

# Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology

## Board Meeting

### Minutes

December 4, 2015

1:00 P.M.

3700 N. Classen Blvd

Dept. of Corrections, Conference Room # 265-Second Floor

*In conformity with the Oklahoma Open Meeting Act, advance notice of this regular board meeting was originally transmitted to the Oklahoma Secretary of State on December 15, 2014 at 9:25am; and, public notice of this meeting together with the agenda, was posted in prominent public view on the front door of the Office Building at 3700 N. Classen Blvd., Oklahoma City, on December 3, 2015 at 11:25am. The announcement of the Board meeting and agenda were also posted on the OBESPA website, <http://www.ok.gov/obespa> on December 3, 2015 at 11:19am.*

#### **Determination of Quorum and Call to Order**

The meeting was called to order at 1:04pm. Ms. Hall called the roll. Board members present were Ms. Susan McHugh, Dr. Mary Hudson, Ms. Mona Ryan, and Mr. William Livermon. Dr. Greg Krempl was not present. A quorum was present.

Others present: Amy Hall, Executive Secretary, Sandra Balzer, Assistant Attorney General and Tiffany Wythe, Assistant Attorney General

#### **Approval of Minutes from November 6, 2015 Board Meeting**

Mr. Livermon moved and Ms. Ryan seconded the motion to approve the November 6 board meeting minutes as written. Dr. Hudson, Ms. McHugh, Mr. Livermon and Ms. Ryan voted yes with a show of hands. Motion approved.

#### **Discussion and Possible Action on Disciplinary Matters. The Board may conduct an evidentiary hearing, consider a proposed consent order, or consider other associated matters or motions. The Board may convene in executive session for the deliberations pursuant to 25 O.S. Section 307(B)(8).**

##### **a. 15-08, Trina Bonham, AUDA#14**

Dr. Hudson moved and Mr. Livermon seconded the motion to dismiss complaint 15-08 against Trina Bonham, showing compliance of all terms in consent order. Dr. Hudson, Ms. Ryan, Mr. Livermon and Ms. McHugh all voted yes by roll call. Motion approved

Dr. Greg Krempl arrived at 1:15pm.

##### **b. 15-23, Chantel Walker, SP#3947**

Ms. Balzer offered a proposed Consent Order in disposition of the complaint alleging failure to comply with continuing education audit requirements. Mr. Livermon moved and Dr. Hudson seconded the motion to accept the Consent Order as proposed. Respondent agreed to pay a fine of \$142.50 and turn in 20 hours of continuing education, due 90 days from AG approval. Ms. Walkers 2015-2016 continuing education will be audited and must be turned in with her 2017 renewal application for renewal to be approved. Dr. Hudson, Ms. Ryan, Mr. Livermon and Ms. McHugh all voted yes by roll call. Dr. Krempl voted nay. Motion approved

**Discussion and Possible Action on Recommendations Regarding Complaints Received by the Board: 15-18**

Ms. Balzer reported that this complaint is still under investigation. No action was needed.

**Review and Discussion of Possible Statutory Changes Regarding Temporary Licenses for Clinical Experience Interns and Speech-Language Pathology Assistants.**

Dr. Krempl moved and Mr. Livermon seconded the motion to accept the proposed and amended statutory changes. Dr. Hudson, Dr. Krempl, Mr. Livermon and Ms. McHugh all voted yes by roll call. Ms. Ryan abstained. Motion approved. Statutory changes attached.

Break at 2:25 and reconvened at 2:38

**Review and Discussion of Proposed Permanent Rule Changes and Possible Action to Initiate Rulemaking Process.**

Ms. Balzer reviewed the Summary of the Revised Rule Changes. The board members reviewed and revised the rules. A Copy of proposed changes to the rules is attached.

Dr. Hudson moved and Ms. Ryan seconded the motion to direct the Executive Secretary to file the Notice of Rulemaking Intent by December 23, 2015. Ms. McHugh, Dr. Hudson, Mr. Livermon, Ms. Ryan and Dr. Krempl all voted yes by roll call. Motion approved.

**Discussion and Possible Action on Financial Reports.**

Ms. Hall reviewed the financial reports for November 2015. No action needed.

**Review and Possible Action on Submission of Executive Director's P-Card Statement for Review and Approval.**

Dr. Krempl moved and Mr. Livermon seconded the motion to approve the Executive Directors P-card statement for November 2015. Ms. McHugh, Dr. Hudson, Mr. Livermon, Ms. Ryan and Dr. Krempl all voted yes by roll call. Motion approved.

**Review and Possible Action on Pending Licensure Applications and Assistant Applications. List Below**

Mr. Livermon moved and Dr. Hudson seconded the motion to approve the applicants for licensure. Ms. Ryan, Mr. Livermon, Dr. Hudson, Ms. McHugh and Dr. Krempl all voted yes by roll call. Motion approved.

Mr. Livermon moved and Dr. Hudson seconded the motion to approve the applicants for CEY licensure. Mr. Livermon, Ms. McHugh, Dr. Hudson, Ms. Ryan, and Dr. Krempl all voted yes by roll call. Motion approved.

Ms. Ryan moved and Dr. Hudson seconded the motion to approve the applicants for assistant licensure. Ms. McHugh, Ms. Ryan, Dr. Hudson, Mr. Livermon and Dr. Krempl all voted yes by roll call. Motion approved.

**Adjournment**

Meeting adjourned at 4:29pm.

Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology & Audiology

**APPLICANTS FOR LICENSURE CONSIDERATION FOR  
SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGY AND AUDIOLOGY**

***December 4, 2015***

<i>Name:</i>	<i>License Number:</i>	<i>Date Issued:</i>
Carolyn Clemens Scott, M.S.	4481	11/13/2015
Meghan Jacobs, M.S.	4482	11/17/2015
Christy N. Hedges, M.S.	4483	11/24/2015

Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology & Audiology

**APPLICANTS FOR CEY LICENSURE CONSIDERATION FOR  
SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGY**

***December 4, 2015***

<i>Name:</i>	<i>Supervisor:</i>	<i>Date Issued:</i>
Cathleen Childs, M.S.	Michael Nolte, SP#2770	12/04/2015
Emily Williams, M.S.	Kari Laxson, SP#3606	12/04/2015

Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology & Audiology

**ASSISTANTS FOR SPEECH PATHOLOGY AND AUDIOLOGY  
APPLICANTS FOR CONSIDERATION**

***December 4, 2015***

<i>Name:</i>	<i>Supervisor:</i>	<i>Date:</i>
Deborah Boeken, SLPA#102	Stacey Ogden, SP#3713	12/04/2015
Jerika Hobza, SLPA#103	Gineta Swanson, SP#516	12/04/2015
Hayley Brock, SLPA#104	Cara Oricchio, SP#2415	12/04/2015
Alyssa Rue, SLPA#105	Cheri Smith, SP#2788	12/04/2015

## Section 1605 – Title 59. Professions and Occupations

A. To be eligible for licensure by the Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology as a speech-language pathologist, the applicant must:

1. Hold not less than a master's degree, or the equivalent, with a major emphasis in speech-language pathology or audiology from a regionally accredited academic institution offering a graduate program in speech-language pathology or audiology that meets or exceeds prevailing national standards;
2. Submit evidence of completion of supervised clinical practicum experience that meets or exceeds prevailing national standards from a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs, the content of which shall be approved by the Board and delineated in the rules;
3. Submit evidence of completion of supervised postgraduate professional experience as approved by the Board and described in the rules;
4. Pass examinations approved by the Board, whether or not administered by the Board; ~~application~~ Application ~~for examination for a license or for a license without examination~~ shall be upon forms prescribed by the Board; the Board may require that the application be verified; the license fee, ~~which shall include an examination fee of not to exceed Twenty five Dollars (\$25.00)~~, shall accompany

~~the application;~~ ~~the cost of examinations administered by the Board shall be included in the examination fee;~~ ~~the~~ The Board shall ~~determine~~ approve the subject and scope of the examinations, ~~and shall provide for examinations to qualified applicants at least twice a year;~~ ~~an~~ An applicant who fails the examination may be reexamined at a subsequent examination, ~~upon payment of another examination fee.~~ Only the Board has the power to determine whether an applicant's examination has been passed or failed;

5. Attest to their status as either a United States citizen, a United States noncitizen national or a qualified alien;
6. Have not committed any acts described in Section 1619 of this title for which disciplinary action may be justified; and
7. Be of good moral character.

B. To be eligible for ~~initial~~ licensure by the Board as an audiologist, the applicant must:

1. ~~Through December 31, 2006, hold not less than a master's degree, or the equivalent, with major emphasis in audiology from a regionally accredited academic institution offering a graduate or postbaccalaureate professional degree program in audiology that meets or exceeds prevailing national standards. After~~

~~December 31, 2006, each audiology applicant shall hold~~ Hold not less than a postbaccalaureate residential or a post-master's distance education professional Doctor of Audiology degree (Au.D.), a Doctor of Philosophy degree (Ph.D.) with emphasis in audiology, or its equivalent as determined by the Board, from a regionally accredited academic institution;

2. ~~Through December 31, 2006, submit evidence of completion of supervised clinical practicum experience that meets or exceeds prevailing national standards from a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs, the content of which shall be approved by the Board and delineated in the rules.~~

~~After December 31, 2006, applicants~~ If applying with a residential Doctor of Audiology professional degree (Au.D), ~~must~~ demonstrate preparation that includes three years of didactic coursework and clinical education equivalent to a twelve-month, full-time clinical rotation or externship;

3. ~~Through December 31, 2006, submit evidence of completion of supervised postgraduate professional experience, as approved by the Board and described in the rules. After December 31, 2006, applicants will be required to present~~ Submit to the Board ~~only~~ a copy of the Doctor of Audiology diploma along with a transcript demonstrating clinical experience equivalent to a twelve-month, full-time clinical rotation or externship, a copy of the Doctor of Philosophy diploma with an emphasis in audiology and a transcript reflecting a twelve-month, full-time

clinical rotation or externship, or the equivalent as determined by the Board, from an accredited academic institution in order to demonstrate completion of the clinical rotation or externship requirement;

4. Pass examinations approved by the Board, whether or not administered by the Board; ~~application~~ Application ~~for examination for a license or for a license without examination~~ shall be upon forms prescribed by the Board; the Board may require that the application be verified; the license fee, ~~which shall include an examination fee not to exceed Twenty-five Dollars (\$25.00),~~ shall accompany the application; ~~the cost of examinations administered by the Board shall be included in the examination fee;~~ The Board shall ~~determine~~ approve the subject and scope of the examinations, ~~and shall provide for examinations to qualified applicants at least twice a year;~~ An applicant who fails the examination may be reexamined at a subsequent examination. ~~upon payment of another examination fee.~~ Only the Board has the power to determine whether an applicant's examination has been passed or failed;

5. Attest to their status as either a United States citizen, a United States noncitizen national or a qualified alien;

6. Have not committed any acts described in Section 1619 of this title for which disciplinary action may be justified; and

7. Be of good moral character.

C. Speech-language pathologist applicants completing the supervised post-graduate professional experience in Oklahoma must have a license issued by the Board. To be eligible for licensure by the Board ~~as an intern~~, the applicant must be ~~in the process of fulfilling the supervised clinical experience required in paragraph 2 of subsection A of this section~~, or be a student, ~~intern or resident in speech-language pathology or audiology, pursuing a course of study at an accredited university or college, or working in a training center recognized by the applicant's accredited university or college, if these activities and services constitute a part of the applicant's supervised course of study, and if such person is designated by such title as "speech language pathology intern", "speech language pathology trainee", "audiology intern", "audiology trainee" or other such title clearly indicating the training status appropriate to the applicant's level of training.~~ meet the requirements in subsection in (A)(1),(2),(5),(6) and (7).

D. To be eligible for licensure by the Board as a speech-language pathology or audiology assistant, the applicant must be assisting in the practice of speech-language pathology or audiology while in the employ of and under the supervision of a licensed speech-language pathologist or audiologist, subject to the rules of the

Board. The licensed speech-language pathologist or audiologist is legally and ethically responsible for the professional activities of such employees.

~~E. To be eligible for licensure by the Board as a speech language pathology or audiology~~ The Board may authorize the Executive Secretary to issue a temporary license holder, the applicant must meet all the requirements specified in subsection A of this section. A temporary license will be issued following a credentials review, such temporary license being valid until the next regularly held Board meeting, upon verification that the applicant meets the licensure requirements. The temporary license authorizes the applicant to begin practicing speech-language pathology or audiology in the interval between submission of a complete application and the date the Board meets to consider the application. The license shall expire upon the Board's grant of a permanent license, or ten calendar days following the board meeting at which the Board denies the application.

**TITLE 690. BOARD OF EXAMINERS FOR SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGY AND  
AUDIOLOGY  
CHAPTER 1. ADMINISTRATIVE OPERATIONS  
SUBCHAPTER 3. BOARD ORGANIZATION AND PROCEEDINGS**

**690:1-3-3. Forms**

The Board shall have such forms as are required for conduct of Board business. ~~Such forms shall include but are not limited to application for authorization to practice as an independent practitioner, an intern, or an assistant.~~

**CHAPTER 5. RULES OF PRACTICE  
SUBCHAPTER 5. INDIVIDUAL PROCEEDINGS**

**690:5-5-1. Notice of proposed hearing**

Whenever the Board chooses to exercise its statutory authority under Section 1619 of the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Licensing Act to conduct a hearing to determine whether suspension or revocation of a license would be ordered or a reprimand issued, ~~the Board~~ the Board shall give at least thirty (30) calendar days written notice of such hearing to the licensee against whom the proceeding is directed. The Notice of the Hearing shall be served on the licensee either personally or by certified or registered mail and shall include the following information:

- (1) the time, place, and nature of the hearing;
- (2) the legal authority and jurisdiction under which the hearing is being conducted;
- (3) the ground or grounds constituting or forming the basis of the charge(s) against the licensee, including reference to the particular section(s) of the statute and/or rule involved.
- (4) information regarding the licensee's right to legal counsel

**CHAPTER 10 - LICENSURE AND FEES  
SUBCHAPTER 3 – LICENSURE OF SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGISTS AND  
AUDIOLOGISTS**

**690:10-3-4. Academic requirement**

**(a) Degree requirement.**

- (1) Each speech-language pathology applicant shall hold not less than a master's degree, or its equivalent, with a major emphasis in speech-language pathology ~~or~~ audiology from an accredited academic institution offering a graduate program in speech-language pathology;
- (2) Each audiology applicant shall hold not less than a post-baccalaureate residential professional doctor of audiology degree (Au.D) from a regionally accredited academic institution, a post-masters distance education professional doctor of audiology degree (Au.D.) from a regionally accredited academic institution, a Doctor of Philosophy degree (Ph.D.) with emphasis in audiology from a regionally accredited academic institution, or its equivalent as determined by the Board.

**(b) Academic transcripts.**

- (1) Each speech-language pathology applicant seeking licensure shall submit a bona fide official academic transcript(s) and verification of (Academic Preparation and

Practicum Form - Verification for Licensure Application) completion of at least 75 semester credit hours from one or more accredited colleges or universities that reflect a well-integrated program of study dealing with (a) the biological/physical sciences and mathematics, (b) the behavioral and/or social sciences, including normal aspects of human behavior and communication, and the nature, prevention, evaluation, and treatment of speech, language, hearing, and related disorders. Some course work must address issues pertaining to normal and abnormal human development and behavior across the life span and to culturally diverse populations. At least twenty-seven (27) of the 75 semester credit hours must be in Basic Science Course Work. At least thirty-six (36) of the 75 semester credit hours must be in Professional Course Work at the Graduate Level.

(A) Basic Science Course Work. Applicants must earn at least twenty-seven (27) credit hours in the basic sciences. At least six (6) semester credit hours must be in the biological/physical sciences and mathematics. At least six (6) semester hours must be in the behavioral and/social sciences. At least fifteen (15) semester credit hours must be in the basic human communication processes, to include course work in each of the following three areas of speech, language, and hearing: the anatomic and physiologic bases, the physical and psychophysical bases, and the linguistic, psycholinguistic and cultural aspects.

(B) Professional Course Work. Applicants must earn at least thirty-six (36) semester credit hours in graduate or professional courses that concern the nature, prevention, evaluation, and treatment of speech, language and hearing disorders. Those thirty-six (36) semester credit hours must encompass courses in speech, language, and hearing that concern disorders primarily affecting children as well as disorders primarily affecting adults.

(2) Specific knowledge must be demonstrated in the following areas:

(A) articulation

(B) fluency

(C) voice and resonance, including respiration and phonation

(D) receptive and expressive language (phonology, morphology, syntax, semantics, and pragmatics) in speaking, listening, reading, writing, and manual modalities

(E) hearing, including the impact on speech and language

(F) swallowing (oral, pharyngeal, esophageal, and related functions, including oral functions for feeding; orofacial myofunction)

(G) cognitive aspects of communication (attention, memory, sequencing, problem-solving, executive functioning)

(H) social aspects of communication (including challenging behavior, ineffective social skills, lack of communication opportunities);

(I) communication modalities (including oral, manual, augmentative, and alternative communication techniques and assistive technologies)

(3) Waiver of transcript. The Board shall waive the transcript requirement and grant a license to any applicant for licensure as a speech-language pathologist who holds the Certificate of Clinical Competence of the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association or its current equivalent, provided that the current requirements for such certification are equivalent to or greater than those for licensure under the Speech-

Language Pathology and Audiology Licensing Act, 59 O.S. 1601, et. seq., as amended. Evidence of such certification shall be received by the Board directly from the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. All fees associated with obtaining such evidence shall be borne by the applicant.

(4) Each audiology applicant seeking licensure shall submit a bona fide official academic transcript(s) and verification of (Academic Preparation and Practicum Form - Verification for Licensure Application) completion of at least 75 semester credit hours in graduate or professional courses from one or more accredited colleges or universities that reflect a well-integrated program of study dealing with the practice of audiology. Specific knowledge must be demonstrated in the following areas:

(A) identification, diagnosis, assessment, measurement, testing, appraisal and evaluation related to hearing, vestibular function, equilibrium, balance and fall prevention;

(B) prevention, treatment, intervention, management and counseling related to hearing, vestibular function, equilibrium, balance and fall prevention, and associated neural systems;

(C) identification, evaluation and treatment of any abnormal condition related to auditory sensitivity, acuity, tinnitus, function or processing, speech, language or other aberrant behavior resulting from hearing loss;

(D) designing, and implementing aural habilitation and rehabilitation or other related programs for the amelioration of disorders of hearing, vestibular function, equilibrium, balance, and fall prevention and associated neural systems;

(E) measurement and interpretation of sensory and motor evoked potentials, electromyography, and other electrodiagnostic tests for purposes of neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring of central nervous system, spinal cord and cranial nerve function.

(5) Waiver of transcript. The Board shall waive the transcript requirement and grant a license to any applicant for licensure as an audiologist who holds the Certificate of Clinical Competence of the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association or its current equivalent, provided that the current requirements for such certification are equivalent to or greater than those for licensure under the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Licensing Act, 59 O.S. 1601, et. seq., as amended. Evidence of such certification shall be received by the Board directly from the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association or its current equivalent. All fees associated with obtaining such evidence shall be borne by the applicant.

#### **690:10-3-5. Supervised clinical practicum requirement**

(a) Speech language pathology applicants must submit evidence of satisfactory completion of four hundred (400) clock hours of supervised clinical practicum, of which at least 375 must be in direct client/patient contact and 25 in clinical observation that are provided by the educational institution or by one of its cooperating programs. At least 325 of the 400 clock hours must be completed while the applicant is engaged in graduate study in a program accredited in speech language pathology by the Council on Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology. Each Speech-Language Pathology applicant seeking licensure from a non-

accredited program shall submit a bona fide official academic transcript(s) and verification of clinical practicum hours.

(b) With the exception of post-masters professional degree (Au.D) applicants and applicants with a Ph.D. with a major emphasis in audiology, audiology applicants must demonstrate completion of a minimum of (1820) supervised clinical hours in audiology through clinical practicum, clinical rotations, or externships during their professional or graduate doctoral degree program. Audiology applicants with a post-masters distance education professional degree (Au.D.) and applicants with a Ph.D. with a major emphasis in audiology must provide evidence of a minimum of (350) supervised clinical hours obtained in audiology through clinical rotations, or externships during their masters or Ph.D. degree program. In addition, audiology applicants with a post-masters distance education professional degree (Au.D.) or a Ph.D. with a major emphasis in audiology must provide evidence of a completed ~~Clinical Experience~~ clinical experience of no less than nine (9) months of successful full-time, paid clinical experience in audiology, obtained under the supervision of one or more independent practitioners licensed under the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Licensing Act, 59 O.S. 1601, et. seq., as amended or of one or more persons whose education and experience are the equivalent of an independent practitioner. The supervisor of clinical experience must be eligible for licensure as an audiologist. This supervision must entail the personal and direct involvement of the supervisor in any and all ways that will permit him to evaluate the applicant's performance in professional clinical employment and must include direct observation. The applicant and his supervisor must list and describe the methods of supervision employed. Specific information should be given regarding the professional activity supervised, the number of supervisory contacts per month, and the length of each supervisory contact. The supervisor shall base his total evaluation on no less than thirty-six (36) supervisory visits. This experience must follow completion of the requirements of 690:10-3-3 and 690:10-3-6. "Full-time" is defined as at least thirty (30) hours per week; the nine (9) months of full time paid experience must be obtained within a period of twenty-four consecutive months. This requirement may also be fulfilled by eighteen (18) months of half time paid experience of at least fifteen (15) hours per week which must be completed within a period of thirty-six (36) consecutive months. All clinical practicum, clinical rotations or externships adduced to satisfy this requirement must have been obtained under the supervision of an individual eligible for licensure as a speech-language pathologist or audiologist under the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Licensing Act, 59 O.S. 1601, et. seq., as amended, and this Chapter. The supervisor of clinical practicum, clinical rotations or externships must be eligible for licensure in the professional area (speech-language pathology or audiology) in which the supervision is provided.

**690:10-3-8. Continuing education (CE) for speech-language pathologists, audiologists, and speech - language pathology assistants**

(a) **Purpose.** The purpose of continuing education requirements for speech-language pathologists and audiologists is to assure that licensees update and advance their skills such that the public shall benefit from the most current and effective standards of professional practice. To further the goal of public benefit, all speech-language pathologists and audiologists are encouraged to fulfill a portion of their Continuing Education requirements in the area of ethics, professional conduct, and related legal issues.

(b) **Clock hours required for license renewal.** A licensee must obtain a minimum of twenty (20) clock hours of acceptable continuing education, including at least three clock hours of

professional ethics in a ~~two-year~~ two-year period. The continuing education period begins in January of every odd-numbered year. A speech-language pathologist or audiologist obtaining initial licensure during a ~~two-year~~ two-year period shall have his or her continuing education requirement prorated to 2.5 clock hours per full quarter remaining in that period. If pro-rated hours are less than five clock hours, the requirement for at least three clock hours of ethics does not apply.

(c) **Approval of continuing education activities required.** Continuing education hours may be granted for acceptable educational activities which are approved by the Board, or by a committee appointed by the Board. No hours will be granted for any activities or categories of activities that have not been approved. A provider of educational activities may apply to the Board for pre-approval of an activity. The provider shall be responsible for compliance with the standards for approval of the activity, verification of participation, and for the provision of the necessary verification of attendance forms to all participants. This verification of attendance form shall include: The participant's name, the presenter's name and credentials, the presentation topic, the program sponsor or agency, the location of the presentation, the dates of presentation, and the total number of clock hours attended. A list of preapproved activities is available on the website or by contacting the board office. Any activity not included on this list will require approval by the Board for credit.

(d) **Exceptions to the requirements.** Exceptions to the pre-approval requirement may be granted at the discretion of the Board for programs presented by recognized sponsors whose programs have been pre-approved by the Board. The university academic semester hour is equivalent to fifteen (15) clock hours, and shall be verified by the presentation of an official academic transcript showing course or audit credits. The licensee is ultimately responsible for providing all information necessary for the Board to make a final determination concerning the acceptability of any requested continuing education hours.

(e) **Fee for approval.** Providers of continuing education programs may be charged a fee for approval of their program. This fee shall be set by the Board.

(f) **Kinds of educational activities for which credit may be received.** Continuing education hours may be earned through formal organized learning experiences, scientific publications, attendance at regularly scheduled meetings of international, national, regional, or state professional associations, or through presentations to appropriate groups not related to the speech-language pathologist's or audiologist's regular employment.

(g) **Hours allowed.** Continuing education activities, whether received or presented by the speech-language pathologist or audiologist, must be targeted toward a professional audience. In those instances when the speech-language pathologist or audiologist is teaching in programs such as institutes, university or college courses, seminars, workshops, and conferences which have been granted approval by the Board, three (3) clock hours will be given for each one (1) hour that is taught, provided that such teaching is not part of the speech-language pathologists or audiologists regular employment. Publication in a professionally- related format approved by the Board shall be equal to up to twenty (20) clock hours. Completion of select job-required activities such as CPR training, etc. can be counted once in the two-year period for a maximum of 20% of the total required hours. Other activities may be credited as authorized and disseminated separately by the Board.

(h) **Petition for extension.** A speech-language pathologist or audiologist who fails to comply with the required twenty (20) hours of continuing education in the two year continuing education period ending December 31 may, by submitting an individual review fee of fifty (\$50.00),

petition the Board for a ninety (90) day extension. Failure to meet this deadline may result in disciplinary action. The petition for extension shall be filed prior to the expiration of the continuing education period.

(i) **Petition for hardship relief.** A speech-language pathologist or audiologist may petition the Board for partial or complete relief of the continuing education requirements upon the showing of incapacitation or serious illness of licensee or licensee's immediate family member, or licensee's absence from the United States for a period of at least eighteen (18) months during the continuing education period; or the licensee is a member of the armed forces on full-time active duty during the continuing education period. The petition for hardship relief should be filed prior to the expiration of the continuing education period, and will be accepted no later than February 1st of the year following the audit period.

(1) Individuals with medical disabilities must provide evidence that documents the inability to work in the professions, such as a letter from a doctor or a Social Security Administration determination letter. Individuals with medical disabilities will be required to sign an affidavit confirming that they are not providing or supervising the provision of clinical services. In addition, individuals with temporary medical disabilities will be required to affirm every two years that they continue to be classified as medically disabled.

(2) Members of the armed forces on full-time active duty will be required to provide a copy of their deployment orders and a signed affidavit stating they will not practice during their deployment. They will be assigned a new 2-year maintenance interval that will start on January 1 of the year following their return. If licensees are deployed for the purpose of providing clinical services or supervising the provision of clinical services, an exemption will be considered on a case-by-case basis.

(j) **Audits of continuing education.** The Board will conduct audits every two years (every even year) of licensee compliance with continuing education requirements.

(1) A minimum of 3% of licensees will be audited.

(2) Those audited will be required to submit ~~a listing of~~ verification of completion for all each continuing education activities activity completed within the audited period, ~~including.~~ The verification shall be signed by the course provider and shall include the title of the activity, the course description, the number of contact hours and a contact for verification of participation. An official continuing education transcript from a Board approved provider is acceptable verification. The verification must be submitted within thirty (30) days of receipt of notification of selection for audit. Failure to submit verification as required shall be considered non-compliance with the continuing education requirements, and the licensee shall be subject to the provisions of paragraph four of this subsection.

(3) Licensees will maintain all original documentation of attendance, course agendas and/or other supporting documentation. The Board may request copies of such documentation as is necessary to determine if an activity will be accepted for continuing education credit. The Board will destroy all such copies following the audit.

(4) Licensees found to be non-compliant with the continuing education requirement shall have ninety (90) calendar days from receipt of notification of continuing education deficiency to ~~provide evidence of continuing education hours sufficient to meet this requirement AND must pay a penalty fee equal to half of the licensure renewal fee. This fee is in addition to any fees for late license renewal. Such hours may not be counted~~

toward fulfillment of future continuing education requirements. Failure to provide evidence of continuing education hours within the ninety (90) calendar day period may result in disciplinary action. complete the following:

- (A) obtain Continuing Education hours sufficient to meet this requirement;
- (B) submit verifications of completion to the Board;
- (C) pay a penalty fee equal to half of the licensure renewal fee. This fee is in addition to any fees for late license renewal. Such hours may not be counted toward fulfillment of future Continuing Education requirements. Failure to comply with the provisions of the paragraph within the ninety (90) calendar day period may result in disciplinary action.

### **690:10-3-9. Telepractice**

#### Use of telepractice.

- (1) Licenseses may evaluate and treat patients/ provide speech-language pathology and audiology services to clients receiving clinical services in Oklahoma by utilizing telepractice. Telepractice is defined as the application of telecommunications technology to deliver professional services at a distance by linking clinician to patient/client or clinician to clinician for assessment, intervention and/or consultation. means the use of audio, video, or data communication to provide speech-language pathology and audiology services to clients who are not present at the same site as the licensee when the service is provided.
- (2) Telepractice shall be obtained in real time and in a manner sufficient to ensure patient confidentiality. Except as provided in 59 O.S. § 1604, no practitioner licensed in another state may deliver speech-language pathology and audiology services via telepractice to clients located in Oklahoma, unless licensed in Oklahoma.
- (3) Telepractice is subject to the same standard of practice as if must conform to the same standards of practice required when the person being treated were the client is physically present with the licensee at the same site as the licensee when the service is provided. Telepractice is the responsibility of the licensee and shall not be delegated.
- (4) Licenseses and staff involved in telepractice Speech-language pathologists and audiologists providing services via telepractice must be trained in the use of telepractice equipment, and are responsible for ensuring that support persons who assist with service delivery at the site where the client is located are properly trained. The telecommunications technology used for service delivery must meet standards established by professional organizations recognized by the Board, and comply with applicable state and federal laws and regulations.
- (5) Telepractice must be an appropriate method of service delivery for the service provided and for the unique needs and abilities of each client. Licensees must inform clients about the risks and limitations of telepractice, and give clients the right to refuse telepractice as the method of service delivery.

**SUBCHAPTER 5 – LICENSURE OF SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGY CLINICAL  
EXPERIENCE INTERNS COMPLETING POST-GRADUATE CLINICAL  
EXPERIENCE.**

**690:10-5-4. Application form for clinical experience interns**

Application for authorization to practice as a clinical experience intern under supervision shall be made in the same manner and on the same forms that are used to apply for licensure as a speech-language pathologist and/or audiologist. A notarized ~~Letter of Agreement~~ letter of agreement shall be provided with each application. The ~~Letter of Agreement~~ letter of agreement must be signed by both the applicant and the proposed supervisor, and must be submitted with the application. Said notarized ~~Letter of Agreement~~ letter of agreement shall explicitly indicate that the supervisor agrees to supervise the clinical experience intern's practice of speech-language pathology or audiology and that the supervisor accepts complete and full responsibility for the clinical experience intern's activities and services.

**690:10-5-8. Direct ~~on-site~~ supervision required**

The applicant must practice in a setting which permits ~~direct, on-site~~ direct supervision by the supervising speech-language pathologist or audiologist. The supervising speech-language pathologist and audiologist must engage in no fewer than thirty-six (36) supervisory activities during the clinical experience. This supervision must include at least eighteen (18) on-site observations of direct client contact at the clinical experience intern's work site (one (1) hour equals one (1) on-site observation; a maximum of six (6) on-site observations may be accrued in one (1) day.) "On-site" is defined as physical presence at the clinical experience intern's work site. At least six (6) observations must be accrued during each third of the clinical experience. These on-site observations must be of the clinical experience intern providing screening, evaluation assessment, habilitation, and rehabilitation. In addition, the supervision must include at least eighteen (18) other monitoring activities. At least six (6) other monitoring activities must be completed during each of the three segments of the clinical experience. These other monitoring activities may be executed by correspondence, review of video tapes and/or audio tapes, evaluation of written reports, phone conferences and/or other telepractice activities with the clinical experience intern, and evaluations by professional colleagues.

**SUBCHAPTER 7 - LICENSURE OF SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGY  
ASSISTANTS AND AUDIOLOGY ASSISTANTS.**

**690:10-7-3. Supervision required**

(a) The speech-language pathology assistant must be supervised by a speech-language pathologist who has been licensed for two years. Each supervisor shall accept no more than two assistants. Licensure as a clinical experience intern does not count toward the two-year license requirement. Each practitioner licensed in both speech-language pathology and audiology is likewise restricted to two assistants in aggregate. Further, the total number of ~~assistants and interns (licensed under Subchapter 3 of these rules)~~ licensees supervised by a single supervisor shall not exceed two.

(b) Beginning January 2017, the supervising speech-language pathologist must have successfully completed at least six hours of Board approved training in clinical supervision. Three hours must include instruction in the knowledge and skills areas necessary for speech-language pathology assistant's supervisors as identified by the American Speech-Language Hearing Association (ASHA), other organization or entity the Board deems acceptable.

(c) A speech-language pathology assistant shall practice under a minimum of 30% supervision weekly, of which 20% is direct and 10% is indirect for the first 90 workdays. After successful completion of the first 90 workdays, a minimum of 10% of direct supervision is required with 20% indirect supervision. The supervising speech-language pathologist must be available by electronic means at all times when the speech-language pathology assistant is performing clinical activities. The supervision must be documented in the client/patient record and on a supervision log. Records of supervision are subject to inspection by the Board.

(1) Direct supervision: in-view observation and guidance by a speech-language pathologist while the speech-language pathology assistant is providing an assigned clinical service to a patient. While directly supervising, the speech-language pathologist may not perform any clinical services unrelated to the client/patient receiving services from the speech-language pathology assistant.

(2) Indirect supervision means the supervising speech-language pathologist is engaged in supervisory activities other than direct supervision, observation and guidance of the assistant while the assistant is providing an assigned clinical service to a patient. Indirect supervision activities performed by the supervising speech-language pathologist may include but are not limited to demonstration, record review, review and evaluation of audio or videotaped sessions, and interactive television and supervising conferences that may be conducted by telephone, email or live webcam.

(d) The supervising speech-language pathologist is responsible for exercising his or her professional judgment to determine the appropriate level of supervision at or above the required minimum necessary to ensure that each client/patient receives competent services. The supervising speech-language pathologist should consider:

(1) the individual speech-language pathology assistant's knowledge, experience and competence;

(2) the treatment setting;

(3) the client/patient's diagnosis/prognosis; and

(4) the nature of the assigned clinical service.

(e) For audiology assistants, direct supervision is required when the assistant is performing activities involving direct patient care. Direct supervision requires the supervising audiologist to be present on-site for supervision and guidance of the assistant. Indirect supervision of the audiology assistant is permissible when the audiology assistant is performing duties or activities that do not involve direct patient care. Indirect supervision requires the supervising audiologist to be available for instruction or guidance but does not require the supervising audiologist to be present on-site. The audiology assistant must be supervised by an audiologist who has been fully licensed for two years. Each supervisor shall accept no more than two assistants.

### **690:10-7-9. Academic Requirements**

(a) Academic requirements for speech-language pathology assistants

(1) Each speech-language pathology assistant applicant shall hold not less than an associate's degree, or its equivalent, with a major emphasis in speech-language pathology from an accredited academic institution.

(2) Each speech-language pathology assistant applicant shall submit a bona fide official transcript(s) and verification of academic preparation and clinical experience reflecting a minimum of eighteen (18) semester credit hours in general education, a minimum of twenty (20) semester credit hours in technical content, a minimum of twenty five (25) hours of observation which precede a minimum of 100 clock hours of supervised clinical experience.

(A) General education. ~~Applicants must earn at least eighteen (18) semester credit hours~~ The general education sequence typically includes, but is not limited to, course work in oral and written communication, mathematics, computer applications, social sciences and natural sciences.

(B) Technical content. ~~Applicants must earn a minimum of twenty (20) semester credit hours in~~ Including, but not limited to the following areas:

- (i) Normal processes of communication.
- (ii) Overview of communication disorders.
- (iii) Instruction in assistant-level service delivery practices.
- (iv) Instruction in work-place behaviors.
- (v) Cultural and linguistic factors in communication.
- (vi) Observation experiences include direct on-site observation of a fully licensed speech-language pathologist. Additional observation experiences may include on-site, video or digital observation of a fully licensed speech-language pathologist.

(C) Clinical experience. Applicants must complete 100 clock hours of clinical experience supervised by a speech-language pathologist. The clinical experience requirement must be completed through an accredited academic institution with a Board approved degree program.

(b) Academic requirements for audiology assistants. Each audiology assistant applicant shall hold not less than a high school diploma or its equivalent.

### **SUBCHAPTER 9. FEES**

#### **690:10-9-3. Examination fee**

The fee for examination or re-examination ~~by NTE is separate from the license application fee and shall be borne-paid by the applicant directly to the exam provider, and is separate from the license application fee.~~

## CHAPTER 15 – RULES OF PRACTICE

### 690:15-1-4. Ethical proscriptions

Ethical Proscriptions are formal statements of prohibitions that are derived from the Principles of Ethics.

(1) The following proscriptions are derived from 690:15-1-3(1):

(A) Licensees must not exploit persons in the delivery of professional services, including accepting persons for treatment when benefit cannot reasonably be expected or continuing treatment unnecessarily.

(B) Licensees must not guarantee the results of any therapeutic procedures, directly or by implication. A reasonable statement of prognosis may be made, but caution must be exercised not to mislead persons served professionally to expect results that cannot be predicted from sound evidence.

(C) Licensees must not use persons for teaching or research in a manner that constitutes invasion of privacy or fails to afford informed free choice to participate.

(D) Licensees must not provide clinical services except in a professional relationship. They must not evaluate or treat solely by correspondence or telepractice. Correspondence means a type of telepractice in which services are delivered through telecommunications methods that don't involve same-time interactivity between the licensee and the patient, such as regular mail, email, and facsimile. This does not preclude follow-up correspondence with persons previously seen, or providing them with general information of an educational nature.

(E) Licensees must not reveal to unauthorized persons any professional or personal information obtained from the person served professionally, unless required by law or unless necessary to protect the welfare of the person or the community.

(F) Licensees must not discriminate in the delivery of professional services on any basis that is unjustifiable or irrelevant to the need for and potential benefit from such services, such as race, sex religion or condition.

(G) Licensees must not charge for services not rendered.

(H) Licensees shall not violate any provisions of the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Licensing Act or Rules.

(2) The following proscriptions are derived from 690:15-1-3(2):

(A) Licensees must neither provide services nor supervision of services for which they have not been properly prepared, nor permit services to be provided by any of their staff who are not properly prepared.

(B) Licensees must not provide clinical services by prescription of anyone who does not hold a license or its equivalent in the appropriate area.

(C) Licensees must not offer clinical services by supportive personnel for whom they do not provide appropriate supervision and assume full responsibility.

(D) Licensees must not require anyone under their supervision to engage in any practice that is a violation of the Code of Ethics.

(3) The following proscriptions are derived from 690:15-1-3(3):

(A) Licensees must not misrepresent their training or competence. Academic degrees, if listed, must be those awarded by a college or university listed in the Education Directory: Higher Education (published by the United States Department of Education).

(B) Licensees' public statements providing information about professional services and products must not contain representations or claims that are false, deceptive or misleading.

(C) Licensees must not use professional or commercial affiliations in any way that would mislead or limit services to persons served professionally.